IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CA-00717

FREDA HOWELL d/b/a LICKITY SPLITZ

APPELLANT

VS.

JEFFERSON DAVIS COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JEFFERSON DAVIS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT FREDA HOWELL d/b/a LICKITY SPLITZ

Al Shiyou, MB# Victor A. DuBose, MB# SHIYOU LAW FIRM 301 W. Pine Street P. O. Box 310 Hattiesburg, MS 39403-0310 Telephone (601) 583-6040

Oral Argument Requested

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The following have a possible interest in the outcome of this case:

Freda Howell, d/b/a Lickity Splitz [Appellant], and Michelle Howell

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The Jefferson Davis County Board of Supervisors acted outside of a properly noticed and convened board meeting in taking away the bid previously awarded to Lickity Splitz, the Appellant, in what constitutes an unlawful meeting;
- II. The Circuit Court abused its discretion in both directing the Board to, in effect, "do over" and "correct" its previous improper action and in restricting the material considered to not include a hearing or any additional evidence or findings;
- III. The Board improperly considered matters outside of the bid specifications, and at no time in the proceedings below did the Board afford an opportunity for the Appellant to address its putative concerns;
- IV. In taking away the bid from Lickity Splitz and doing so outside of a proper meeting, the Board's actions were arbitrary and capricious, and were not "cured" by its attempted *nunc pro tunc* amendments;
- V. Lickity Splitz was well qualified to provide the advertised service, prisoner meals, and had done so for the adjoining county's jail.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Freda Howell d/b/a Lickity Splitz [hereinafter, "Lickity Splitz"], the Appellant herein, appeals the order and decision of the Circuit Court of Jefferson Davis County, Mississippi filed April 5, 2010, denying the appeal of Lickity Splitz from the actions and decisions of the Board of Supervisors of Jefferson Davis County, Mississippi [hereinafter also referred to as "Board of Supervisors" or "the Board"].

Lickity Splitz was the lowest bidder to provide prisoners' meals for the Jefferson County jail following the Board of Supervisors' advertisement for bids for same, and was awarded said bid on January 5, 2009 at the Board's meeting. (R.E. 59, R. 163). However, four days later, on January 9, 2009, the Board's attorney sent a letter to Lickity Splitz which stated that the Board "has decided" to use the "alternate bidder," rather than Lickity Splitz, and stated that "[t]his decision is based on the personal inspection of your facility conducted by the Sheriff and representatives of the Board." (R.E. 61, R.165).

Eleven days later, on January 20, 2009, the Board issued an "Order Authorizing and Ratifying Use of Alternate Bidder to Provide Prisoner Meals", which purported to ratify the above January 9, 2009 letter from the Board's attorney to Lickity Splitz, and which "ordered" and "ratified" that the alternate bidder, Bassfield Texaco, provide the prisoner meals; the order stated that "based on the negative report received from Sheriff McCullum and the representatives of the Board regarding the conditions of said [Lickity Splitz] facilities, the

Board has found that Lickity Splitz cannot deliver the commodities contained in their bid." (R.E. 62, R. 166).

Lickity Splitz timely appealed the Board's order to the Circuit Court of Jefferson Davis County and filed its Bill of Exceptions and brief in support of its appeal. (R.E. 18, R. 9-11). By order filed December 29, 2009, the circuit court found that Lickity Splitz "was vested with a constitutionally protected property interest in the Prisoner Meals contract for 2009" and was "entitled to the requisite procedural due process provided under Mississippi law before its interest was terminated." (Order of December 29, 2009 at 3, R.E. 15, R.. 125). The circuit court "remanded" the matter back to the Board of Supervisors and stated that the Board's finding "is currently an unsupported conclusory assertion." (Id. at 5, R.E. 17, R. 127). The circuit court ordered that: "The Board is hereby directed to nunc pro tunc amend its minutes to include the report presented to the Board by Sheriff McCullum and the representatives of the Board at the January 20, 2009 meeting. In the event the report cannot be incorporated into the minutes, the President of the Board is directed to submit a signed affidavit to be incorporated stating that the report was presented to the Board." (Id. at 5, emphasis by the circuit court, R.E. 17, R.127). The order gave further detail as to the expected content of the affidavit and amendment to the Board's minutes. (R.E. 17, R. 127). The order did not provide for an opportunity for a hearing or other means through which Lickity Splitz could address the Board or its concerns or present evidence.

On or about February 2, 2010, counsel for Lickity Splitz received copies of two nunc pro tunc amendments to the January 20, 2009 [and January 5, 2009, as to one of the

amendments] minutes of the Board of Supervisors, said amendments dated January 19, 2010, though said minutes were not timely assigned a book and page number. (Order of circuit court of April 5, 2010 at 4, R.E. 6, R. 202). The *nunc pro tunc* amendments purported to (1) incorporate an affidavit of the Board president dated January 19, 2010 into the minutes, which allegedly gave the details directed by the circuit court in its order of December 29, 2009, and (2) stated the amounts of the bids of the low bidder, Lickity Splitz, which was \$11.00 per day per inmate, and the "alternate" bidder, Bassfield Texaco, which was \$13.50 per day per inmate. (R.E. 64-66, R. 169, 175-76). On February 8, 2010, Lickity Splitz submitted its second notice of appeal in this matter. (R. 128-29).

On April 5, 2010, the circuit court's order deciding this second appeal was filed and entered by the circuit clerk. In that order, the circuit court held that the decision of the Board of Supervisors was affirmed. (R.E. 11-12, R. 207-08). To the argument by Lickity Splitz that the January 9, 2009 Board attorney's letter reflected improper Board action, the circuit court held that the Board's "decision" to award the contract to the alternate bidder "did not occur until the Board entered the minutes from its January 20, 2009 meeting," and also stated that "[u]ntil the Board entered its minutes from the January 20, 2009 meeting, [Lickity Splitz] still had a right to perform the prisoner meals contract for 2009." (order of April 5, 2010 at 8, 9; R.E. 10, 11, R. 206-07). The circuit court also held that the *nunc pro tunc* amendments of the Board of January 19, 2010 were proper and related back to the January 20, 2009 minutes of

¹Counsel for Lickity Splitz was directed by the law clerk of the circuit court to submit the second appeal under the same cause number as the first [and existing] appeal.

a year earlier. (order at 6, R.E. 8, R. 204).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The appellant, Lickity Splitz, was the low bidder to provide prisoner meals for the Jefferson Davis County Jail for the calendar year 2009, following the opening of bids by the Board of Supervisors on January 5, 2009, and was accepted and approved by unanimous vote of the Board that same day. (January 5, 2009 Board Order, "Order Accepting Bids and Awarding Contracts for County Supplies and Services"; R.E. 57-60, R. 161-64). Lickity Splitz was identified in said order as the "Primary Bid" and Bassfield Texaco was the "Alternate Bid." Lickity Splitz is located in adjacent Covington County, and has provided prisoner meals for the Covington County Jail and City of Collins for a number of years. (R.E. 46, 47, 49; R.s 143, 144, 146).

Four days later, the Board Attorney for the Board of Supervisors sent a letter dated January 9, 2009 to Lickity Splitz, in which he stated that the Board "has decided to use the alternate bidder to provide prisoner meals for the Jefferson Davis County Jail. *This decision* is based on the personal inspection of your facility conducted by the Sheriff and representatives of the Board." [emphasis added](January 9, 2009 letter from Board Attorney to Lickity Splitz, R.E. 61, R. 165). Lickity Splitz was given no prior notice of "this decision" and no notice of a duly-authorized meeting at which said "decision" was made, and thus had no opportunity to address any concerns of the Board or even hear the purported basis for the

"decision."

Lickity Splitz timely filed its notice of appeal on January 20, 2009. (R. 9, 10). That same day, unknown at that time to Lickity Splitz, the Board of Supervisors adopted an "Order Authorizing and Ratifying Use of Alternate Bidder to Provide Prisoner Meals. (R.E. 62, R. 166). The order states that "Sheriff McCullum and representatives of the Board have personally inspected the facilities of Lickity Splitz...and...based on the negative report received from Sheriff McCullum and the representatives of the Board regarding the conditions of said facilities, the Board has found that Lickity Splitz cannot deliver the commodities contained in their bid." The order states that it is "ordered" and "ratified" that the alternate bidder, Bassfield Texaco, shall provide the prisoner meals for the year 2009. The order also stated that it is "further ordered" that the Board Attorney's January 9, 2009 letter to Lickity Splitz "is hereby ratified." (Id.).

Just prior to filing its Bill of Exceptions, submitted on January 30, 2009, Lickity Splitz received a letter dated January 27, 2009 from the Board Attorney transmitting a copy of the Board's above-referenced January 20, 2009 "ratifying" order. (R.E. 63, R. 167). Lickity Splitz timely filed its Bill of Exceptions and submitted same to the Board of Supervisors, which filed a response to the Bill of Exceptions with an index of record. (R.E. 18-32, R.s 11-25, 45-62).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Longstanding Mississippi law holds that decisions made by Boards of Supervisors or contracts awarded by them must be done so only in lawfully convened sessions. It is undisputed in the instant case that the bid of Lickity Splitz was initially "approved and accepted" by the Jefferson Davis County Board of Supervisors in its meeting of and through its Order dated January 5, 2009. (R.E. 57-60, R. 161-64). However, on January 9, 2009, the attorney for the Board of Supervisors sent a letter to Lickity Splitz stating that the Board "has decided to use the alternate bidder." (R.E. 61, R. 165). The Board Attorney's letter references previous purported action of the Board of Supervisors, sometime after the bid acceptance of January 5, 2009 and prior to the attorney's letter of January 9, though it is undisputed that no legally-noticed Board meeting took place during that interim.

Any "substantial action" taken by a board of supervisors "must be evidenced by entries on their minutes, and can be evidenced in no other way." *Lee County v. James*, 174 So. 76, 178 Miss. 554, at 559 (Miss. 1937). The Board's "decision" to use the alternate bidder was, therefore, improper, and must be reversed. The Board's actions also violated Miss. Code Ann. § 31-7-13(d)(i) and were arbitrary and capricious. The Board of Supervisors did not comply with this statute, either via the "letter" of January 9, 2009 or its attempted "ratification" order of January 20, 2009.

The circuit court initially remanded this matter back to the Board of Supervisors, via its order filed December 29, 2009. However, both the circuit court's remand and the

subsequent action by the Board were flawed, and the case should be reversed as a result. On January 19, 2010, almost one year to the day from its previous "ratified" order of January 20, 2009, the Board purported to provide its "basis" for its action via *nunc pro tunc* amendments to its minutes of a year prior. However, no hearing was conducted and no *new* evidence or findings were taken or permitted by the Board or circuit court. As a result, the Board's actions were arbitrary and capricious. The Board cannot take "after the fact" action to make legitimate that which was illegitimately done in the first place. No amount of "ratifying" improper and invalid actions of the Board by that Board can make what is unlawful, lawful. The circuit court's failure to recognize this improper Board action constitutes an abuse of discretion and requires reversal.

The Board of Supervisors also based its actions upon matters and items not included in the bid specifications, in violation of § 31-7-13(d)(i). The scant specifications contained no language whatsoever that would have permitted the Board, or anyone on its behalf, to "inspect" the successful bidder, in order for that bidder to "retain" its award. (R.E. 51, 52; R. 152-53). The Board acted improperly in considering items not included in the specifications, in plain violation of the above statute. The methods employed by the Board cannot be allowed to "circumvent" public purchase laws and impair their "broad public importance."

In addition, Lickity Splitz was experienced and well-qualified to provide the awarded service. Lickity Splitz provided said meals for the adjoining county's jail, i.e., Covington County, in both 2007 and 2009, without incident. It did not provide said food for Covington

County in 2008 or 2010 because it was not the low bidder—that county awarded its prisoner meals contract to the low bidder in 2007, 2008, 2009, and 2010. Lickity Splitz was the lowest and successful bidder for the 2010 meals contract for the City of Collins and is presently providing those meals. Thus, it is clear that Lickity Splitz had the capacity to fulfill the contract with Jefferson Davis County.

This Honorable Court should award full contractual damages to Lickity Splitz, including the profits it would have gained had the contract been fulfilled, as well as consequential and penal damages, and attorney's fees and expenses, interest, and all costs of court.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

Under the law of this state, the decision of a board of supervisors "is not to be disturbed unless the [board's] order was unsupported by substantial evidence; was arbitrary or capricious; was beyond the [board's] scope or powers; or violated the constitutional or statutory rights of the aggrieved party." *Lee County Bd. of Supervisors v. Scott*, 909 So 2d 1223, 1225 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (quoting *Board of Law Enforcement Officers Standards & Training v. Butler*, 672 So. 2d 1196, 1199 (Miss. 1996)). As to questions of law, the Court's review is de novo. *A & F Properties, LLC v. Madison Co. Bd. Of Supervisors*, 933 So. 2d 296, 300 (Miss. 2006).

The Board Attorney's letter of January 9, 2009 and the actions it references cannot constitute proper Board action.

It has long been the law in this state that "the <u>decisions</u> to be executed or the contracts to be awarded by the board [of supervisors] <u>must</u> be determined or <u>decided</u> upon <u>only in or</u> <u>at</u> a lawfully convened session, and the proceedings must be entered upon the minutes, of the board or commission." <u>Lee County v. James</u>, 174 So. 76, 178 Miss. 554, 558 (Miss. 1937) [emphasis added]. It is undisputed in the instant case that the bid of Lickity Splitz was "approved and accepted" by the Board of Supervisors of Jefferson Davis County by its Order dated January 5, 2009. (R.E. 57-60; R. 161-64).

Four days later the attorney for the Jefferson Davis County Board of Supervisors sent a letter dated <u>January 9</u>, 2009 to Lickity Splitz stating that the Board of Supervisors "<u>has</u> decided to use the alternate bidder..." The letter also states that "[t]his decision is based upon the personal inspection of your facility conducted by the Sheriff and representatives of the Board." (R.E. 61; R. 165).

Clearly, the Board Attorney's letter references <u>previous purported action</u> of the Board of Supervisors, sometime after the bid acceptance of January 5, 2009 and prior to the attorney's letter of January 9, yet it is undisputed that no legally-noticed Board meeting took place during that interim. In addition, the language of the above letter plainly evidences actions <u>already</u> taken, and there is <u>no</u> reference to any future Board action. Further, on the basis of the record that existed at the time the letter was sent, there is not even an indication of the number of "representatives of the Board" who were present at the purported "inspection" of Lickity Splitz's facility.

What can be clearly concluded is that the Board's Attorney reported to Lickity Splitz a "decision" of the Board before a legally-noticed meeting of the Board had taken place. "We have consistently held that a board of supervisors can only act through its minutes."

Lee County Bd. Of Supervisors v. Scott, 909 So. 2d 1223, 1226 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005)

[emphasis added] (citing cases, including Martin v. Newell, 198 Miss. 809, 815, 23 So. 2d 796, 797 (Miss. 1945)).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has long held that any "substantial action" taken by a board of supervisors "<u>must</u> be evidenced by entries on their minutes, and can be evidenced

in no other way." Lee County v. James, 174 So. 76, 178 Miss. 554, at 559 (Miss. 1937) [emphasis added], see also <u>Thompson v. Jones County Community Hospital</u>, 352 So. 2d 795, 796 (Miss. 1977); <u>George County v. Davis</u>, 721 So. 2d 1101, 1107 (Miss. 1998); <u>Lange v. City of Batesville</u>, 972 So. 2d 11, 18 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (citing <u>Thompson</u>).

A letter from the Board Attorney plainly does not meet that requirement.

Here, the Board has attempted to "act" via the Board attorney's letter, or at a prior Board meeting that was not legally noticed. Either of those cannot constitute legitimate action by the Board of Supervisors. Lickity Splitz respectfully but strongly submits that on that basis alone, the decision of the circuit court should be reversed and rendered by this Court.

In its order affirming the Board's action, the circuit court gave too little significance to the Board Attorney's letter of January 9, 2009, and incorrectly held that "[u]ntil the Board entered its minutes from the January 20, 2009 meeting, the Appellant [Lickity Splitz] still had a right to perform the prisoner meals contract for 2009." (Order of April 5, 2010 at 9; R.E. 11; R. 207). To the contrary, by January 9, 2009, the Board had *already made* the "decision" to give the meals contract to the second bidder, Bassfield Texaco.

The Board's actions violate Miss. Code Ann. § 31-7-13(d)(i).

The Board's action was arbitrary and capricious.

The Board's advertisement for bids gave notice that the Board would take sealed bids for a number of items, including "10. Maintenance and operation of county offices, jail

facilities, equipment, buildings, and grounds *including prisoner meals* and pest control of Jefferson Davis County." [emphasis added](R.E. 51, 52; R. 152-53). No other items of consideration specific to the prisoner meals were included in the advertisement. That advertisement did not provide for "inspections" of the bidders' facilities by the Sheriff and unnamed representatives of the Board (or anyone else), either before or after the bid was awarded by the Board.

Mississippi law requires that if the Board wished to accept a bid other than the lowest bid, the Board "shall place on its minutes detailed calculations and narrative summary showing that the accepted bid was determined to be the lowest and best bid, including the dollar amount of the accepted bid and the dollar amount of the lowest bid." Miss. Code Ann. § 31-7-13(d)(i) [emphasis added]. Clearly, in the instant case, the Board of Supervisors did not comply with this statute. The only basis for the Board's purported rescission of the award was one brief sentence: "...based on the negative report received from Sheriff McCullum and the representatives of the Board regarding the conditions of said facilities, the Board has found that Lickity Splitz cannot deliver the commodities contained in their bid." (R.E. 62; R. 166).

In addition to failing to state the amount of the two bids in its order of January 20, 2009, the Board stated no real basis for its purported rescission, save the unauthorized and improper "visit" to Lickity Splitz by the Sheriff and unnamed board representatives. Such action is clearly "arbitrary and capricious" and should not be allowed to stand. *Canton Farm Equip.*, *Inc. v. Richardson*, 501 So. 2d 1098, 1104 (Miss. 1987).

In its order of January 20, 2009, the Board utterly failed to follow the mandates of the relevant statute, § 31-7-13. That order gave no dollar amounts of either bid, and did not state any "detailed calculations" or a "narrative summary" showing that the Bassfield Texaco bid was indeed determined to be the lowest and best bid.

The circuit court's remand effort was inadequate and the Board action taken thereafter also must fail.

In its order filed December 29, 2009, the circuit court remanded this matter back to the Board of Supervisors, and directed the Board to put on its minutes both the missing bid amounts and the missing calculations and narrative summary. (R.E. 17; R. 127). On January 19, 2010, almost one year to the day from its previous "ratified" order of January 20, 2009, the Board purported to provide its "basis" for its action via the *nunc pro tunc* amendments to its minutes of a year prior. (R.E. 64, 65-66; R. 169, 175-76). This action was improper and inadequate and should not be permitted to stand.

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