IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2010-CA-00717

FREDA HOWELL, d/b/a LICKITY SPLITZ

APPELLANT

vs.

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF JEFFERSON DAVIS COUNTY

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JEFFERSON DAVIS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI'

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE, BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF JEFFERSON DAVIS COUNTY

> Robert E. Sanders, MSB Wes Daughdrill, MSB YoungWilliams P.A. 2000 Regions Plaza P.O. Box 23059 Jackson, MS 39225-3059 Telephone: 601.948.6100

Facsimile: 601.355.6136

¹ The Clerk's Cover on the Record in this action erroneously identifies the trial judge as the Hon. Prentiss Greene Harrell. In fact, the trial judge was the Honorable R.I. Prichard, III.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. There was no illegal meeting of the Board, and no action by the Board was taken outside a lawful and regularly scheduled meeting of the Board. Contrary to the argument made by the Appellant, the Board Attorney's January 9, 2009, letter to the Appellant (Appellee's R.E. 24; R. 59)

² The use of the words, "decided" and "decision," in the letter is merely an imprecise description of events. After the inspection, Board members separately expressed their beliefs that the Appellant could not adequately deliver the meals, but no decision on the issue was made until the January 20, 2009, Board meeting.

was not a report of a previous decision by the Board. The actual decision of the Board regarding use of the alternate bidder was not made until its regularly scheduled meeting on January 20, 2009.

A board of supervisors can act only through its minutes. See, Lange v. City of Batesville, 972 So.2d 11, 18 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008)(quoting Thompson v. Jones County Community Hospital, 352 So.2d 795, 796 (Miss. 1977) The Board has acted only in properly called meetings, and has expressed itself only through its minutes.

- 2. The Board did not abuse its discretion in using the alternate bidder. The Appellant's assertion that the Board's action was "arbitrary and capricious" is mistaken, as reflected in the Board minutes. There was ample basis for the Board's action, and it is contained in the Record. The Board's decision was based on the good faith inspection of Appellant's facilities made by the Sheriff and representatives of the Board. The trial court was "not at liberty to set aside the decision of a Board of Supervisors unless that decision is 'clearly shown to be arbitrary [or] capricious...", see, Billy E. Burnett, Inc. v. Pontotoc County Bd. of Supervisors, 940 So. 2d 241, 243 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). As shown by the Board minutes, there was a sufficient basis to support the Board's decision. Therefore, the Board's decision is clearly not arbitrary or capricious.
 - 3. The inspection of the Appellant's facility was proper and permitted by the Appellant.
- 4. The entry of the *nunc pro tunc* Orders was appropriate to show the true facts which supported the decision of the Board to use the alternate bidder. See, Huey Stockstill, Inc. v. Hales, 730 So.2d 539, 544 (Miss. 1998)
- 5. Even in the absence of the *nunc pro tunc* Orders, the decision by the Board to use the alternate bidder was proper. See, Miss. Code Ann. §31-7-13 (f).

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

Factual findings of the trial court are not to be disturbed or rejected unless those findings are manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous. See, Zumwalt v. Jones County Board of Supervisors, 19 So.3d 672, 682 (Miss. 2009); In re Estate of Grubbs v. Woods, 753 So.2d 1043, 1046 (Miss. 2000). This Court's review of the legal conclusions made by the trial Court are de novo. See, Zumwalt, supra, at 682; In re Will of Clarice Temple Carney v. Carney, 758 So.2d 1017, 1019 (Miss. 2000).

The Appellant contends that this Court's standard of review of the trial court's decision is the same as the trial court's standard of review of the decision by the Board of Supervisors. This is correct in part only. The trial court's findings of fact are entitled to some deference by this Court. It is only the trial court's assessment of the legal conclusions which flow from those findings of fact which are to be reviewed de novo. In other words, this Court will review de novo whether the factual findings made by the trial court were sufficient to sustain the Board's decision, or whether the facts before the Board were so insufficient as to render the Board's decision arbitrary.

II. The Trial Court Correctly Affirmed the Board's Decision To Use the Alternate Bidder

(a) There Was No Illegal Meeting By The Board

The bulk of the Appellant's brief relies on the notion that the Board made the decision to use the alternate bidder at some undefined occasion other than at a properly convened meeting of the Board, and that the decision of the Board was evidenced by the January 9, 2009, letter to the Appellant from the County Attorney. This is not only incorrect, it is legally impossible. A board of supervisors can only act in properly called meetings, and it can speak only through its minutes. See,

Lange v. City of Batesville, 972 So.2d 11, 18 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008)(quoting Thompson v. Jones County Community Hospital, 352 So.2d 795, 796 (Miss. 1977).

The Appellant also constructs its arguments on the fact that the minutes of the January 20, 2009, Board meeting reflect, in part, that the Board ratified the County Attorney's letter. The important element of the minutes of that meeting, and the element that the Appellant does not discuss, is the positive finding by the Board that the Appellant "cannot deliver the commodities contained in their bid," and the positive decision by the Board "that the alternate bidder, Bassfield Texaco, shall provide prisoner meals for the County for the year 2009, or until further Order of the Board." The language in the minutes which purported to ratify the language of the letter was nothing more than surplusage. The ratification language in the minutes has no meaning in the context of this action. The Appellant's arguments to the contrary are little more than an attempt to create an issue where none exists.

(b) The Board's Decision Was Not Arbitrary or Capricious

The Appellant's argument that the Board's actions were arbitrary and capricious is little more than an argument that the Board reached an incorrect conclusion after reviewing the facts as it understood them. The Appellant's argument is refuted in the record by the Board minutes (Appellee's R.E. 32; R. 175) and by the Board President's affidavit (Appellee's R.E. 34; R. 182). The Board's decision was based on the good faith inspection of Appellant's facilities made by the Sheriff and representatives of the Board. Whether the assessments made by the Sheriff and the Board representatives were absolutely correct or not, those assessments provided ample basis for the decision made by the Board to use the alternate bidder. Acting on the basis of specific information, especially information conveyed to the Board by responsible public servants after an inspection

³ In her Brief, the Appellant argues at length about her qualifications. This argument is not relevant to the issues at hand. The critical issue is the Appellee's good faith assessment, on January 20, 2009, of the Appellant's ability to provide prisoner meals, and the extent to which the Board's decision on that date was supported by substantial evidence known to the Board at the time of the decision.

specially undertaken for the purpose of protecting the health and welfare of prisoners in the charge of the County, is the antithesis of arbitrary or capricious action.

The trial court was "not at liberty to set aside the decision of a Board of Supervisors unless that decision was 'clearly shown to be arbitrary [or] capricious..." See, Billy E. Burnett, Inc. v. Pontotoc County Bd. of Supervisors, 940 So. 2d 241, 243 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). As shown by the record herein, there was a sufficient and clear basis to support the Board's decision. Therefore, the Board's decision was clearly not arbitrary or capricious. The Board's decision does not need to be proven to be correct or sound. It is only necessary that the decision is based on findings that are reflected in the Record so that the basis for the decision is reviewable. Thus, "such a decision is not to be overturned if its validity is 'fairly debatable." Id. at 243. The trial court used the correct standard of review in considering the Board's actions. The trial court was correct in affirming the Board's actions.

(c) The Inspection of the Appellant's Facility Was Proper and Permitted By the Appellant

The Appellant argues that the bid specifications did not permit an inspection of her facility. The short response to this argument is that there is no prohibition against a Board of Supervisors gathering information to satisfy itself on the issue of a bidder's ability to provide commodities. The Appellee has an inherent right and duty to vigilantly maintain oversight over all areas for which it has responsibility. The citizens of Jefferson Davis County expect the Board to continually monitor the quality of goods and services for which it contracts, and the citizens rightfully expect the Board to do all things reasonably necessary to assure that contracts are adequately performed. The Board's inherent right to inspect and maintain oversight regarding the ability to perform is particularly important where prisoners are to be fed three times a day every day.

The Appellant cites no authority for the proposition that the Board of Supervisors needs special authorization to call upon a place of business. In any event, the visit was authorized by the

person who attended the Board meeting on behalf of the Appellant. That person was Michelle Howell, the Appellant's daughter. The daughter's affidavit, attached to the Appellant's Record Excerpts at R.E. 47-48, expressly states that the Sheriff of Jefferson Davis County told the daughter "that he might drive to Collins to visit with us, which I said would be fine." The Appellant's own affidavit, Appellant's R.E. 43, shows that the daughter conveyed that information to the Appellant. The Appellant's affidavit reflects no objection to the visit by the Sheriff. The notion that the visit was somehow improper, or that it violated some right belonging to the Appellant, is simply a post hoc attempt by the Appellant to create an issue where none exists.

(d) The Nunc Pro Tunc Minute Amendments Were Proper

The Appellant challenges the trial court's directive that the Board minutes be amended, and the effect of the amendments after they were made. For its argument on this point⁴, the Appellant relies on Sunland Publishing Co., Inc. v. City of Jackson, 710 So.2d 879 (Miss. 1998), and Lopez v. Jackson County Board of Supervisors, 375 F.Supp. 1194, 1199 (S.D. Miss. 1974). Both cases are inapposite for the same reason.

The Sunland case presented a dispute about bids for the publication of legal notices. The City of Jackson awarded the contract to a newspaper which was not the low bidder. After a Complaint by the newspaper which submitted the lowest bid, the City amended its earlier minutes to change the low bidder's status from qualified to not qualified. The City's amended minutes did not reflect the gathering of any additional facts or any new understanding of the low bidder's status. The City simply disqualified the low bidder after its challenge. The Lopez case presented a dispute about boat slips in a harbor controlled by Jackson County. The Ocean Springs Harbor Committee decided to restrict rental of boat slips to residents of Jackson County. Notices were sent to non-residents to vacate their slips. Prior to this notice, the Jackson County Board of Supervisors had

⁴ The Appellant's argument on this point is contained in two separate parts of her Brief. The first section starts on page 14 of the Brief. The second section starts on page 21 of the Brief.

nothing in its minutes which provided authority to the Committee to do what it did. After the non-residents filed a Complaint, the Board of Supervisors entered a *nunc pro tunc* Order approving the action of the Committee.

In both the <u>Sunland</u> and <u>Lopez</u> cases, the defendants attempted, by *nunc pro tunc* orders, to create facts or authorizations that did not exist at the time the original minutes were entered. The Supreme Court properly held that the whole cloth inventions of such facts and authorizations could not be accomplished by *nunc pro tunc* orders. In the present case, the *nunc pro tunc* Orders were used for a perfectly lawful purpose as explained in <u>Huey Stockstill</u>, <u>Inc. v. Hales</u>, 730 So.2d 539 (Miss. 1998). In <u>Stockstill</u>, this Court explained that boards of supervisors may amend their minutes by *nunc pro tunc* orders where the purpose of the amendments is to cause the minutes "to reflect what actually occurred on the first occasion." *Id.*, at 544 This Court also explained in <u>Stockstill</u> that

a trial court sitting in an appellate capacity from a decision by a government body may remand the matter to that body for more detailed findings where the record does not adequately support the governmental decision. (*Id.*, at 544)

The Stockstill scenario precisely fits the present case. At the January 20, 2009, Board meeting, the Board heard the verbal report by the Sheriff and the representatives of the Board concerning their observations of the Appellant's facilities. The original minutes of that meeting (Appellee's R.E. 25; R. 60), however did not reflect the details of that verbal report. The amended minutes for that meeting (Appellee's R.E. 32; R. 175) did nothing but add a true account of the verbal report. This was accomplished by adding the affidavit of the Board President (Appellee's R.E. 34; R. 182). In the affidavit, the Board President set forth, as closely as he could, the actual report which was delivered verbally at the original Board meeting. This is precisely what is permitted by Stockstill.

The amended minutes for the January 5, 2009, Board meeting (Appellee's R.E. 31; R. 169) did one other thing. The amended minutes reflect the actual dollar amounts of the Appellant's bid

and Bassfield Texaco's bid. Those dollar amounts were, obviously, presented to the Board members at that meeting, but the original minutes did not reflect the dollar amounts. Again, this amendment was in keeping with Stockstill because the amended minutes merely reflected in more detail what was actually viewed and considered by the Board members at the January 5 meeting.

Stockstill is the controlling case on this point. The trial court based its ruling on this point entirely on Stockstill. Tellingly, the Appellant does not mention Stockstill once in her Brief. The amended minutes do not create anything. The amendments merely make a more detailed account of the facts which were actually presented to the Board at the January 5 and January 20 meetings. The trial court committed no error in directing the Board to amend its minutes or in relying on the amended minutes in affirming the Board's decision to use the alternate bidder. The Appellant's arguments to the contrary are empty.

(e) No Violation of Miss. Code Ann. (31-7-13(d)(i) Exists

Miss. Code Ann. §31-7-13(d)(i)⁵ provides, in pertinent part, that if a board of supervisors,

accepts a bid other than the lowest bid actually submitted, it shall place on its minutes detailed calculations and narrative summary showing that the accepted bid was determined to be the lowest and best bid, including the dollar amount of the accepted bid and the dollar amount of the lowest bid.

The language of the statute clearly contemplates that a low bid has been rejected, and that the governing body has chosen to select a higher bidder. This is not what happened in the present case. Here, the Board did not reject the lowest bidder. To the contrary, it accepted the low bid submitted

⁵ Miss. Code Ann. §31-7-13(d)(i) provides: "Decision procedure. Purchases may be made from the lowest and best bidder. In determining the lowest and best bid, freight and shipping charges shall be included. Life-cycle costing, total cost bids, warranties, guaranteed buy-back provisions and other relevant provisions may be included in the best bid calculation. All best bid procedures for state agencies must be in compliance with regulations established by the Department of Finance and Administration. If any governing authority accepts a bid other than the lowest bid actually submitted, it shall place on its minutes detailed calculations and narrative summary showing that the accepted bid was determined to be the lowest and best bid, including the dollar amount of the accepted bid and the dollar amount of the lowest bid. No agency or governing authority shall accept a bid based on items not included in the specifications."

by the Appellant. The dispute arose when the Board subsequently determined that the low bidder would not be able to properly provide the commodity bid upon. It is doubtful, therefore, that the statute has any actual application here.

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